CITY OF ELIZABETH CITY
PLANNING COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING
Tuesday Oct.6, 2020
4:00 PM

MEMBERS PRESENT

Ernest Sutton - Chairman
Johnson Biggs - Vice Chairman
Carlton O'Neal (Absent)
Suzanne Stallings (Absent)
Gary White

Kevin Johnson

Also present were Carter Thompson, Community Development Director, Cheryl
Eggar, Planner, and LaToya Harper, Secretary to the Commission.

Chairman Sutton called the meeting to order at approximately 4:00 PM and stated a
quorum.

Chairman Sutton called for a motion to approve the agenda as presented.

Commissioner White made a motion to APPROVE the agenda as presented.
Commissioner Johnson seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: White, Johnson,
and Biggs. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED

Chairman Sutton called for a motion to approve the minutes from the planning
commission meeting on Tuesday, September 1, 2020.

Commissioner White made a motion to approve the minutes. Commissioner
Biggs seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: White, Johnson and Biggs.
NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Secretary Harper, read the STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE as follows: Elizabeth City
Code of Ethics provides that public officials and employees be independent, impartial,
and responsible to the public; that government decisions and policy be made in
proper channels of the governmental structure; that public office not be used for
personal gain; and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its government.
In recognition of these goals and in keeping with the ethical standards of conduct for
city public officials and its employees, disclosure of interest in legislative

action must be stated for public record, as per City of Elizabeth City Code of
Ordinances Section 32.04. Any official act or action before the Planning Commission
shall be publicly disclosed on the record of the Commission the nature and extent of



such interest and the Commissioner shall withdraw from any consideration of the
matter if excused by the Commission pursuant to G. S. 160 A-75.

Chairman Sutton stated the new business as follows:

e CASE NO: TA 03-20 is a proposal by the Community Development Planning staff to
amend the Unified Development Ordinance, specifically Article II Interpretations and
Definitions and Article XI Development Standards adding language to define and
regulate food trucks.

e CASE NO: TA 04-20 is a request by the Community Development Planning staff to
amend the Unified Development Ordinance, specifically Article XI Development
Standard, Section 11-4.12 to modify the design standards for automotive repair
services.

Planner Eggar began her presentation on CASE NO: TA 03-20

Planner Eggar stated that a food truck is a self-contained vehicle that serves food at
various locations.

Planner Eggar stated that a mobile food vendor is a mobile food unit such as a food
truck cart, or mobile food unit. Planner Eggar stated that they may sell on public street
alleys, public property, or private property.

Planner Eggar stated that this use will be permitted in all business and industrial
districts with the exception of the Causeway Mixed Use, and the central business
districts. Planner Eggar stated that it requires health department permits, business
registrations, and zoning permits. In addition, authorization from the property owner
and existing tenants is also required. In the case that there is a multi-tenant shopping
center all the business owners have to agree to having the food truck in that area.

Planner Eggar stated that food trucks and mobile food units can operate through an
approved special event permit with event holders permission, they may be located on
the street right away associated with the event, and may during the hours of the
event, and may remain parked overnight for the duration of this special event.

Planner Eggar also stated that if a violation is issued for a permitted or non-permitted
location and the operator does not come into compliance within 10 days, the zoning
permit and business registration shall be revoked. Planner Eggar stated that if the
operations are causing traffic parking, or litter problems, either on site or off or
creating a dangerous public health and safety then the zoning permit can be revoked.

Planner Eggar explained that the penalty of these violations will be $50 for civil
penalty and $50 per day for each violation.



Planner Eggar specified that food trucks and mobile food units are required to be at
least 10 feet from a fire hydrant, sidewalks, handicap ramps, driveway entrances, and
street railways.

Planner Eggar indicated that food trucks shall not occupy or interfere with handicap
parking access, and shall not obstruct fire lanes, vehicular access ways, sidewalks, or
pedestrian walkways.

Planner Eggar then went on to clarify that no onsite parking is required for the food
operations. Planner Eggar also stated that additional parking may be required if
parking congestion is observed at the location and the site lacks sufficient parking
for existing merchants, the food operations location and times, may have to be
modified

Planner Eggar then pointed out that all units are to be totally self-contained and that
temporary connections to power or water are prohibited.

Planner Eggar stated that Food Trucks are permitted to have menu board and
sandwich board signs and that they may provide seating, tables, and other accessory
furniture. It was also stated that all seating accessory furniture and trash cans are
removed from the site each night and that they need to provide trash receptacles for
customers. and that the trash and waste are to be removed daily and they are not
permitted to use the city’s receptacle.

Planner Eggar also emphasized that Food Trucks may not dispose of liquid grease
or solid waste and storm drains, sanitary sewer public streets or parking lots and
overnight parking is prohibited.

Planner Eggar stated that for more units on one site, a site plan will be required to
the location of the units and will have to be on a major thoroughfare, a collector, or
nonresidential local street and this is our table of permissible uses.

Chairman Sutton wanted to know if Covid 19 was a contributing factor in how the
uses were developed.

Planner Eggar stated that no, Covid-19 was not a factor in developing these
regulations simply because Covid-19 is temporary rather than something to be put into
the code for something long term.

Director Thompson also provided feedback and simply stated that since the state of
North Carolina was heading into Phase 3 that would allow for larger gatherings that it
did not make sense for the City to create regulations based upon Covid 19. Director
Thompson stated that the regulations should be based upon the long term.

Commissioner Biggs inquired about whether the Food Truck owner would need
to acquire separate permits for each location.



Planner Eggar explained that for any business that has more than one location there
is a requirement that each location have a business registration and zoning permit.
We will require signatures from the property owners and from the various tenants
that are within the shopping center giving the person permission to be there.

Commissioner Biggs specified that if said food truck needed to relocate to a new
location they would then have to go back to the Planning Department to apply for
a new permit.

Planner Eggar confirmed that yes for every location the food truck owner would need
a new business registration and zoning permit.

The Commissioners brought up hypothetical situations in which a food truck owner
needed to move around in order to better serve their business. Commissioner
White questioned if a food truck owner wanted to go to the mall one day and the
next day decided to go to Elizabeth Street would they have to pull a permit for
each day.

Planner Eggar rescinded by saying that the zoning permit was good forever for
each location chosen and the business permit would be renewed once a year.

Director Thompson stated that the business registration would follow the food
truck because it is a mobile food unit.

Director Thompson agreed that the zoning permit was an opportunity to state
what locations would be permissible for the food truck owner to park their truck.

After much discussion on how the zoning permit process would be regulated with the
food trucks, the Commissioners agreed that discussion should be tabled for more
clarity on the procedure and the process.

Chairman White entertained a motion to DELAY CASE NO: TA 03-20

Commissioner White made a motion to DELAY CASE NO: TA 03-20 pending further
staff review. Commissioner Biggs seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: Biggs,
White, AND Johnson. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Chairman Sutton read the following project summary for the next item on the agenda:
CASE NO: TA 04-20 is a request by the Community Development Planning staff to
amend the Unified Development Ordinance, specifically Article XI Development
Standard, Section 11-4.12 to modify the design standards for automotive repair
services.



Director Thompson explained that the document language underlined in red is new
language and strikethrough in red is deletion of existing language.

Director Thompson stressed that there were very few regulations in place and that this
has been a visual issue for adjacent property owners because the two zoning districts
where this is allowed is in the general business and the industrial districts.

Director Thompson mentioned that with the industrial business you are not so much
worried about the aesthetics of a business but in the general business such as
Ehringhaus street there needs to be additional regulation to make sure the use is being
properly handled.

Director Thompson stated that storage and screening for wrecked or
inoperable vehicles shall be stored in a fenced area for a period, not to exceed
120 days.

Director Thompson also noted that wrecked or inoperable vehicles shall be screened
from the street view and any adjacent properties.

Director Thompson suggested that automotive bays will be kept open free and
unobstructed other than the car that is being repaired. Parking spaces shall be for
vehicles being repaired only and not for junked, wrecked, or inoperable vehicles.

Director Thompson stressed that customer and employee parking spaces must
not be occupied by cars that are being repaired, junked, wrecked, or inoperable
vehicles.

Director Thompson stated that all automatic parts, engines, hydraulic lifts, or other
items shall be kept behind the fenced in area and the property should be kept free
of debris in a neat and orderly fashion.

Director Thomson explained that all dumpsters are required to be screened and no
freight shipping containers are allowed in the general zoning district.

Director Thompson stated that the sale of used cars will require approval through
the zoning process and all oils, toxic fluids should be disposed of according to the
fats oils and grease standards for the city.

Director Thompson also noted that automotive related facilities that may contribute
petroleum based fluids to the City’s sanitary sewer collection system are required to
install EPA or DNR approved oil and water separators.

Commissioner White responded by stating that he was a retired state inspector and
there were not many garages that were licensed by him personally that the 120-day



limit would work. Commissioner White explained that there may be a mechanic’s lien
that takes a very long time in some instances to process.

Director Thompson explained that the 120 days was existing language and asked if
that should be deleted?

Commissioner White believed that statement should be tweaked and the timeframe
should be removed or extended.

Director Thompson agreed to remove the statement.

Commissioner White also believed that you should not be able to tell a garage that has
gone through the bureaucratic process of getting a title that they can't sell off their
property nor should they have to get a permit to sell it.

Director Thompson stated that vehicle sales are allowed in some areas and not in other
areas so it is a separate zoning process.

Commissioner White gave a hypothetical situation in which a mechanic gets a vehicle
through a lien and then he decides to dispose of it and try to recover some of his
expenses for that repair. Commissioner White stated that the owner should not have to
acquire a permit.

Commissioner Biggs inquired if there could be a limit on the number of cars being sold.
Commissioner Biggs understood regulations were placed there to keep a garage form
becoming somewhat of a mixed use by having a garage and a car lot at the same
location.

Commissioner White believed that it should read that a Garage should not sell more
than 5 vehicles in a 12-month consecutive period at which they should be required to
get a dealer’s license.

Director Thompson stated that it was currently permitted for a garage to sell vehicles
on their property now and that it was only just a separate zoning permit because it is a
separate use and there is no limit to how many cars can be sold on that property once
a zoning permit is obtained. The garage just needs to make sure that they have
parking available for all of it.

There was continued discussion regarding the need for a garage owner to have to get
a zoning permit for just a few vehicles. Commissioner Biggs suggested it be changed to
a requirement of a zoning permit if the garage sells more than five (5) vehicles to
match the DMV’s requirements for an individual to obtain a dealer’s license after selling
five (5) vehicles.



Commissioner Biggs had another question in regards to the hydraulic lifts.

Director Thompson used a hypothetical example of a small garage operation in which
the bays are filled and they are now using hand crank lifts in the parking lot and doing
auto repairs in the parking lot.

Commissioner White brought to light that in some instances some vehicles may be too
big for the bay.

Discussion was continued explaining different possible scenarios.

Commissioner White made a motion to DELAY CASE NO: RZ-01-20 pending further staff
review. Commissioner Stallings seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: Stallings,
White, AND Johnson. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Chairman Sutton asked staff if there was anything to report.

Director Thompson assured that Community Development was still working on the
online permitting and that it was probably about two weeks out for launch and that it
was going very well.

Planner Eggar confirmed that next month will feature the preliminary plat for
Stockbridge Phases 3 and 4. Planner Eggar stated that this was the last phase with the
development that's coming out next month.

Chairman Sutton commented on how pleasantly surprised to see how well the office
was set up and how nice everything looked and he encouraged the other
Commissioners to stop by and see when they got an opportunity.

Commissioner Biggs asked how everything stood on Building Inspectors.

Director Thompson declared that Building Inspection was currently fully staffed and
that the Interim Chief Building inspector will be applying for the Chief position adding
that he has 38 years’ experience and a level three in all four certifications.

Director Thompson also stated that the new Building Inspector Paul Kahl came out of
retirement with the County to come and work for the City.

Director Thompson explained how the department has been working to streamline the
processes to make them all more efficient.

Chairman White asked if there were any member concerns.

Chairman White entertained a motion to adjourn



Commissioner White made a motion to ADJOURN the Tuesday, October 6, 2020
Planning Commission Meeting. Commissioner Stallings seconded the motion. ALL IN
FAVOR: White, Johnson, AND Biggs. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Planning Commission adjourned at 04:55 pm.

Respectively Submitted,

LaToya Harper

Secretary



